

Commission for the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean

Northern Committee Fifth Regular Session

Nagasaki, Japan 7–10 September 2009

SUMMARY REPORT

USP Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

The Commission for the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean. Northern Committee.

Fifth regular session, 7-10 September 2009, Nagasaki, Japan: summary report. Kolonia, Pohnpei: Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission, 2009.

40 p.; cm.

- 1. Fishery management, International—Oceania—Congresses 2. Fishes—Conservation—Oceania Congresses 3. Fish stock assessment—Oceania—Congresses 4. Tuna fisheries—Oceania—Congresses
- 5. The Commission for the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean—Congresses I. Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission.

ISBN 978-982-9103-18-5

SH214.9.C78 2009

333.95609648

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY REPORT	1
Agenda Item 1 — Opening of Meeting	1
Agenda Item 2 — Conservation and Management Measures	1
Agenda Item 3 — Regional Observer Programme	12
Agenda Item 4 — Data	12
Agenda Item 5 — Future Work Programme	13
Agenda Item 6 — Cooperation With Other Organizations	13
Agenda Item 7 — Other Matters	15
Agenda Item 8 — Report to the Commission	15
Agenda Item 9 — Close of Meeting	15
ATTACHMENTS	16
Attachment A — Participants List	17
Attachment B — Agenda	26
Attachment C — Conservation and Management Measure – Bluefin Tuna	28
Attachment D — Conservation and Management Measure – North Pacific Albacore	30
Attachment E — Northern Committee Work Programme 2009-2013	33



Northern Committee Fifth Regular Session

Nagasaki, Japan 7–10 September 2009

SUMMARY REPORT

AGENDA ITEM 1 — OPENING OF MEETING

1. The Fifth Regular Session of the Northern Committee (NC5) took place in Nagasaki, Japan, from 7–10 September 2009. The meeting was attended by members from Canada, Cook Islands, Japan, Republic of Korea, Chinese Taipei, United States of America (USA), and Vanuatu. The list of meeting participants, including observers, is included in Attachment A.

1.1 Welcome

2. Masanori Miyahara, Chair of the Northern Committee (NC), opened the meeting and welcomed participants to Nagasaki Prefecture, which had extended an invitation to hold the 2009 Session of the NC in Nagasaki City. The Governor of Nagasaki Prefecture, Mr Genjiro Kaneko, presented a welcome address.

1.2 Adoption of agenda

3. The provisional agenda, as amended, was adopted (Attachment B). The documents that supported the meeting were made available on the Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission (WCPFC) website.

1.3 Meeting arrangements

4. Japan, as host of NC5, briefed the meeting of social arrangements and the meeting schedule.

AGENDA ITEM 2 — CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT MEASURES

- 2.1 Report from the 9th International Scientific Committee for Tuna and Tuna-like Species in the North Pacific Ocean
- 5. Gary Sakagawa, Chair of the International Scientific Committee (ISC), introduced the ninth

meeting report of the ISC (ISC9) to NC5. He summarized ISC's accomplishments during 2008–2009 and provided an update on stock status and conservation advice for Pacific bluefin, albacore, swordfish and ISC-related work on striped marlin, blue marlin and sharks. He reviewed data and information gaps, including a biological research proposal that is presented under Agenda Item 4. He advised that the ISC plenary also considered administrative matters relating to the WCPFC/ISC memorandum of understanding (MoU), the requirement for consideration of a peer review procedure as recommended by the Independent Review of Interim Arrangements for Science Structure and Function, and also logistical and administrative requirements support for ISC's work, which are further considered below under Agenda Item 6.

6. A summary of stock status, conservation advice and issues arising from working group and ISC9 discussions during the year was then provided to NC5.

Pacific bluefin tuna

- 7. Yukio Takeuchi (Japan) reported on the stock status and conservation advice of Pacific bluefin tuna from the ISC9 plenary in July 2009. After the Fourth Regular Session of the Northern Committee (NC4), ISC's Pacific bluefin working group concluded that the natural mortality (M) of adults is likely to be higher than the value used in the 2008 stock assessment, and identified one alternative M schedule for a new sensitivity analysis. Results of the new run were presented to NC5, describing the instability of the management benchmark, including biological reference points with respect to small perturbations of adult M. Nevertheless, most of the conclusions from ISC8 regarding stock status remain compatible with the new run, with a new M with few exceptions. With regard to conservation advice, there are two different opinions on future fishing mortality, and ISC was unable to reach a single consensus. One opinion is that fishing mortality (F) should not be increased, and the other is that juvenile fishing mortality should be decreased.
- 8. NC5 discussed the implication of changing M estimates for mature fish, noting that the change resulted in a more favorable outcome concerning stock status. The change had been considered as a result of improved understanding of Pacific bluefin age and growth, reproductive biology and maximum age. However, the M used in the analysis represented preliminary estimates and so further research is required.
- 9. Korea requested that future stock assessment advice from ISC to the NC be presented in the form of a Kobe chart. In response, Yukio Takeuchi advised that this could be done but that first the NC needed to determine the limit and target reference points. The selection of the reference point will determine the trend in F and spawning stock biomass (SSB) trajectories as well as stock status relative to overfishing and overfished reference points. In response to a question from Korea, Yukio Takeuchi further explained that recruitment is related to localized environmental conditions. Also it appears that recruitment has been stronger and less variable since the mid-1990s relative to the situation that persisted in the 1980s. He suggested that the relationship between environmental conditions and recruitment could be the subject of future pesearch.

North Pacific albacore

10. Gary Sakagawa summarized ISC's results of the albacore stock assessment that was carried out by ISC's Albacore Working Group under the leadership of its new Chair, John Holmes. The latest stock assessment was completed in 2006 with data up to 2005. No new stock assessment has been conducted

since then, and a full stock assessment is planned for 2011. A qualitative analysis with limited fishery data for 2008 and 2009 was undertaken in 2008 and 2009 to determine levels of recent recruitment, and to assess the continued existence of historical high levels of recent adult biomass that were identified in the 2006 assessment. The analyses proved to be inconclusive; hence, ISC has no new stock status and conservation advice to offer beyond that provided in 2007 (i.e. current F is high relative to most of the F reference points commonly used in fisheries management and hence, the recommendation of not increasing F from current level [F= 0.75] is still valid). The ISC, however, recognizes that not having available a more recent stock assessment increases the uncertainty about recent stock status and this advice.

- 11. ISC completed work in 2009 on determining $F_{SSB-ATHL}$ associated with the average level of the 10 historically lowest years for the albacore SSB over the last 40 years. $F_{SSB-ATHL}$ is 0.75/year, which is the same as was estimated by the 2006 assessment as the current F level. Work was requested by the NC which has adopted this F-based parameter as an interim biological reference point. The ISC, however, requested clarification from the NC as to whether this interim reference point is a limit or a target reference point. If it is a limit reference point, then the NC needs to further consider the 50% probability limit it has chosen for this parameter; if it is the target reference point, then the NC needs to further consider the decision regarding appropriateness.
- 12. USA expressed concern about the length of time between stock assessments, given the importance and apparent status. In response to a suggestion that the NC consider a regular assessment schedule, the Chair noted that the International Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (ICCAT) schedules a stock assessment every four years with a mid-term review. The ISC Chair noted that he had encouraged ISC to establish a regular three-year assessment schedule but that this had not been accepted. He noted that it would not be possible for ISC to produce an assessment for North Pacific albacore in 2010.

Bycatch species

13. The ISC Chair reported that ISC plans to convene a session of its Bycatch Working Group in order to give consideration to sharks. However, there is still some uncertainty within ISC about whether sharks should be considered bycatch or target species. He also noted that ISC currently has insufficient resources to address many bycatch issues, although sea turtles and seabirds will receive attention in future years (see Agenda Item 2.4.2).

North Pacific swordfish

- 14. The ISC Chair reported on the results of ISC's 2009 North Pacific swordfish stock assessment on behalf of Gerard DiNardo, Chair of ISC's Billfish Working Group. He noted that the assessment was based on two stock structure hypotheses. One hypothesis, which proposes that there is a single homogeneous stock in the North Pacific, was used as a reference because previous stock assessments were based on this hypothesis. The second hypothesis, which proposes that there are two stocks a western and central Pacific Ocean (WCPO) stock and an eastern Pacific Ocean (EPO) stock in the North Pacific with little or no mixing between them, is the preferred hypothesis because most stock structure evidence so far supports this hypothesis.
- 15. Available data for 1951–2006 were suitable for conducting the stock assessment with a Bayesian surplus production model (BSPM). Results using the single stock hypothesis indicate that the

maximum sustainable yield (MSY) is 19,100 mt, and the exploitable biomass has been well above this. The estimated harvest rate has been well below the average harvest rate of 34% at MSY. The harvest rate for 2006 was 13%.

- 16. The ISC Chair summarized the results as follows: Available stock structure evidence supports the two-stock hypothesis and not the single stock hypothesis. Available data are most suitable for conducting a stock assessment with a BSPM. Results of the assessment using the BSPM indicate that the exploitable biomass for both stocks has been above the biomass at MSY, and the harvest rate has been below that required for MSY. The current (2006) estimated harvest rates for the stocks are below the harvest rates at MSY, and projections of these harvest rates to 2010 produced exploitable biomass above the biomass at MSY. The ISC Chair concluded that both swordfish stocks in the North Pacific are healthy and well above levels required to sustain recent catches.
- 17. The ISC Chair advised that genetic studies had concluded that there are two stocks of swordfish in the North Pacific. He also noted that data from the Spanish longline fleet operating in the EPO were not available to the assessment but that the amount of catch by that fleet was relatively small and was not expected to impact the assessment in a significant way.

North Pacific striped marlin

- 18. The ISC Chair, on behalf of the Chair of the ISC Billfish Working Group, reported on ISC's work with regard to stock status and conservation advice for North Pacific striped marlin. He reported that the ISC is planning to conduct a full stock assessment in 2011 after completing its 2007 assessment. He informed participants that updated catches of striped marlin for the period 1952–2006, continues to show a downward trend since the late 1960s. Based on catch statistics, most of the biomass (about two-thirds or more) in the North Pacific is located north of 20°N, and the trend in F on spawning fish (i.e. ages 5 years and older) has been increasing, reaching a peak in 2003, the last year estimated by the 2007 assessment. The estimated SSB has declined sharply since the early 1970s and was at a historical low in 2005.
- 19. ISC believes that the 2007 assessment provides the best available information on the stock status of North Pacific striped marlin, and that the conservation advice provided in 2007 is still valid. That is, overall F for striped marlin should be reduced. The degree of reduction should be guided by the biological reference point selected by management authorities, which should consider the population biology of this species and the characteristics of the fisheries. Until such an action is adopted, F should not be increased.

2.2 Report of the Fifth Regular Session of the Scientific Committee

- 20. The Chair of WCPFC's Scientific Committee (SC), Naozumi Miyabe, presented a summary report on the outcomes of the Fifth Regular Session of the SC (SC5) in relation to the NC's work (see WCPFC-NC5-NC5-2009/IP06).
- 21. In response to a query from the USA, the Chair of WCPFC's SC advised NC5 that the SC has not established a schedule of assessments for target stocks. He noted that yellowfin and albacore had been assessed in 2009 and that bigeye was subject to a streamlined assessment. He advised NC5 that, in 2010, skipjack and bigeye would be subject to full assessments.

- 22. Japan noted the combined impact of fisheries in tropical areas for skipjack, and remarked that oceanographic variability may be resulting in changes in the stock distribution in the northwest Pacific and the availability of the stocks to fishing fleets. It was noted that, at SC5, Japanese researchers and the Oceanic Fisheries Programme of the Secretariat of the Pacific Community had agreed to cooperate on the 2010 skipjack assessment so that such changes would be accommodated in the assessment.
- 23. In response to a request by the SC for the ISC to frame its management advice using common MSY-based reference points until decided otherwise, the ISC Chair responded that in ISC's view, it is up to the management body, in this case the NC, to determine which default reference points to use. He noted that, for North Pacific albacore, the interim reference point adopted is SSB, but it was unclear if this was intended to be a limit or a target reference point.
- 24. With regard to the availability of ISC documents, the ISC Chair advised that the timely provision of documents for ISC meetings faced similar challenges as those experienced by WCPFC's SC, and that documents were rarely available well in advance of meetings. It was noted that while there had been improvement in posting reports of ISC's working groups and its plenary on the ISC website, the availability of documents supporting working group and plenary discussions remained an issue.

2.3 Conservation and management measures for northern stocks

2.3.1 Pacific bluefin tuna

25. NC5 noted that:

WCPFC5 agreed that CCMs [i.e. WCPFC Members, Cooperating Non-members and participating Territories] are requested not to increase the level of fishing mortality on Pacific bluefin in 2009 on a voluntary basis, and tasked NC5 to work toward developing a draft CMM [conservation and management measure] for Pacific bluefin for consideration at WCPFC6.

- 26. The WCPFC Chair invited CCMs to report on the voluntary action taken during the last 12 months to not increase the level of fishing effort on Pacific bluefin.
- 27. Japan reported that it had initiated consultation with a wide range of stakeholders in order to raise awareness about international perceptions concerning responsible fisheries management, and requested industry to constrain effort. A PowerPoint presentation was used to profile fisheries in Japan that are taking Pacific bluefin. Japan reported that purse-seine fishing associations had implemented a voluntary measure to not catch Pacific bluefin tuna that are less than 2 kilograms. Japan acknowledged that this is hard to regulate in mixed schools, but that vessels were encouraged to relocate away from fishing grounds where small tuna were encountered. Informal information suggests that the measure was well implemented and resulted in a substantial reduction in juvenile fish catches.
- 28. In response to a question from Korea regarding whether or not any domestic regulations have been implemented, and whether or not any juveniles have been taken in set nets, Japan replied that the measure by purse-seine associations to not catch Pacific bluefin tuna is voluntary, and that set net fisheries are regulated under an existing licensing system. The existing data demonstrate that juvenile bluefin are not taken in set nets because set nets take larger fish. Korea also noted that bluefin catches by small Japanese longliners had quadrupled from 2007 to 2008. Japan responded that the catch from

these vessels is declining, and that they target adult bluefin. The bluefin tuna's variable migration path poses a challenge to introducing a catch limit; therefore, there is significant variability in catch from one year to another, probably as a result of environmental changes. Japan reported that bluefin catches declined substantially in 2009. Japan is uncertain what level of catch is gauged to be a "normal" year, and stated that it is not possible, as this point, to forecast the 2009 total catch.

- 29. Korea explained that its bluefin market is small and that it does not currently regulate fisheries on a species-by-species basis. It also noted that it there is no concept of bycatch. The government does regulate the number of licenses by gear type, and is conducting a programme to reduce the number of licenses. In addition, a total allowable catch is set for mackerel purse-seine fisheries that also take Pacific bluefin. Korea explained that several types of fisheries take bluefin tuna: purse seine, coastal set net, and troll fisheries, for which the statistics on bluefin are poor. The Busan-based Research Institute currently estimates catches on the basis of market surveys, although enhanced monitoring of port landings is under development. Korea will report on the results of these efforts at the next ISC meeting. In 2008, the total estimated catch for purse seiners was 1,536 mt, an increase from 1,054 mt in 2007. No data are available on catches from other fisheries, which mainly consist of set nets with the possibility of some catch taken by other fishing gear, as reported to ISC.
- 30. Japan recalled that the discussion regarding a CMM for Pacific bluefin began at NC2, appealing to Korea to demonstrate to the international community its commitment to participate in NC efforts to establish sustainable measures for Pacific bluefin. Korea reiterated that, in Korean law there is no concept of bycatch or target species. Current bluefin catch levels are small, accounting for less than 1% of the total catch of Korean purse seiners, and so are considered bycatch. Korea noted that the catch level around the Korean peninsula is increasing, and that Korean fishermen want to pursue opportunities to catch bluefin. Japan noted that in 2003, Korea reported a catch of 2,000 mt, which was 10% of the total bluefin catch. As a result, in Japan's view, Korea has a significant role in conserving and managing the stock. Japan recalled ISC's advice that F should not be increased; therefore, in its view, the Korean government's policy of supporting the development of coastal fisheries for bluefin is not consistent with this advice. Korea recognized its right to develop and manage fisheries within waters under national jurisdiction, and expressed a desire to control bluefin fisheries within Korea's exclusive economic zone (EEZ) by itself. Japan stated that when observing the operational basis of purse seiners, these vessels do target bluefin tuna. Korea advised that it had no available information to confirm the observation that Korean purse seiners target bluefin tuna, but would submit information to NC6 on this matter.
- 31. NC5 noted: i) the principle of compatibility, ii) the need to implement measures that secure conservation and management of the stock throughout its range within the WCPFC Convention Area, and iii) Convention provisions requiring that measures within EEZs do not undermine the CMMs put in place by WCPFC.
- 32. Chinese Taipei reported that many small longline fisheries were fishing for Pacific bluefin from March to July, and that there is limited entry control for this fishery. The number of small longliners fishing for Pacific bluefin in 2008 was less than the number in 2002–2004. Size data for over 90% of landings in domestic ports were measured and collected. Catches of Pacific bluefin by larger longliners (>100 gross registered tons) were less than 1 mt last year. Only insignificant amounts of bluefin are taken by other gear types. Chinese Taipei has an ongoing programme of limiting fishing capacity, and all longliners operating on the high seas are installed with a vessel monitoring system for better monitoring purposes.

- 33. The USA reported that it does not have a target fishery for Pacific bluefin. Following a query from Korea concerning a reduction in recreational Pacific bluefin catches since 2004, the USA responded that the catch reduction could be a result of the fish being intercepted in Mexican waters before they reach the fishing grounds of the USA recreational fleet.
- 34. NC5 noted that the preliminary 2008 catch estimate for Mexico (as reported to ISC) was 4,400 mt. The Chair noted that an invitation had been extended to Mexico to participate in ISC and NC discussions but Mexico had been unable to attend. It was also reported that recent exports of Mexican farmed bluefin had received low prices on the Japanese market, and that this might constrain further expansion of bluefin farming enterprises in Mexico.
- 35. Vanuatu reported no bluefin catches.
- 36. In considering conservation and management options, NC5 noted that the conservation advice from ISC for Pacific bluefin remained unchanged, and is as follows.
 - 1. If F remains at the current level, and if environmental conditions remain favorable, recruitment should be sufficient to maintain the current yield well into the future.
 - 2. A reduction in F in combination with favorable environmental conditions, should lead to a greater spawning potential ratio.
 - 3. Increases in F above the current level, and/or unfavorable environmental conditions, may result in recruitment levels that are insufficient for sustaining the stock's current productivity.
- 37. With regard to advice on the current level of F, differing viewpoints were expressed by ISC members. Some members concurred with the findings of the Pacific Bluefin Working Group, which stated that:
 - 4. Given the conclusions of the May–June 2008 stock assessment with regard to the current level of F relative to potential target and limit reference points, and residual uncertainties associated with key model parameters, it is important that the current level of F is not increased.
- 38. In contrast, other members suggested that the following statement better reflects the current understanding of the stock status relative to the range of reference points considered (Fig. 1 in ISC9 Report).
 - 4bis. Given the conclusions of the July 2009 Pacific Bluefin Working Group, the current level of F relative to potential biological reference points, and increasing trend of juvenile F, it is important that the current [sic] level of F is decreased below the 2002–2004 levels on juvenile age classes.
- 39. NC5 noted that the conservation and management advice points 4 and 4bis are not inconsistent with each other. Both points describe limiting F, with the second option advising on the need to decrease current F on juvenile fish. The USA noted that even with a decrease of F on juveniles the overall F is still greater than any commonly used reference point, including F_{max} . As a result, it is the USA's view that F should not be increased and should probably be reduced.
- 40. NC5 discussed a draft CMM for North Pacific bluefin tuna proposed by Japan

(WCPFC-NC5-2009/DP01). Discussion was supported by a supplementary submission by Japan, which summarized NC discussions since 2006 with regard to Pacific bluefin (WCPFC-NC5-2009/IP07). It was noted that four elements need to be factored into the measure: i) high seas effort, ii) coastal fisheries effort, iii) target fisheries, and iv) fisheries that take bluefin as bycatch. Other factors considered for inclusion included: i) acceptance of a reference level of fishing effort (2002–2004 was considered to be an appropriate reference level on the basis of previous NC discussions), ii) a commitment that the measure apply throughout the stock's range, iii) the need to provide complete catch and effort data, and iv) identification of stock-specific reference points, v) large range of yearly fluctuations of catches, and vi) the special needs of artisanal fisheries.

- 41. Korea advised that it is not in a position to endorse Japan's proposal to a commitment not to increase effort. However, Korea undertook to control fishing effort in its own EEZ, and to not increase effort in the high seas. Little or no Pacific bluefin catch has been reported from the high seas fishery. In the meantime, Korean scientists will continue working to assess the stock's status and monitor environmental changes that may be resulting in increased catches.
- 42. Cook Islands, Vanuatu and Chinese Taipei advocated the need to maintain F at the current (2002-2004) level. The USA expressed concern about the relative lack of substantive measures endorsed by the NC during its four years of operation. While appreciating Japan's proposal, the USA noted that there is a need to address: i) the issue of increasing F on juveniles, and ii) freezing F_{current} (2002–2004) as the reference period for measuring F (for the purpose of monitoring compliance with management measures). The USA recommended that there should be a process to establish stock-specific reference points, consistent with Convention provisions for bluefin tuna. The NC5 Chair agreed that it is a requirement for regional fisheries management organizations to establish stock-specific reference points, and that the NC should consider making a commitment to this.
- 43. NC5 adopted a measure for 2010 that will not apply to Korea's EEZ or to artisanal fisheries, which will be recommended to the Commission (WCPFC-NC5-2009/DP01 Rev.2; Attachment C).

2.3.2 North Pacific albacore

- 44. In providing NC5 with a brief overview of albacore fisheries, the USA reported that its main albacore fleet is on its west coast and that the size of the fleet has been decreasing. A licensing and logbook system is in place for this fleet. Chinese Taipei reported that the limit on the number of vessels targeting North Pacific albacore is 25. In 2007 and 2008, the number of vessels targeting this species declined. Korea reported that the current number of vessels operating in the fishery cannot be increased, while Japan reported that the number of vessels in its albacore fleet is declining. Cook Islands reported that the number of its vessels fishing for North Pacific albacore is limited to the number of vessels that operated in the period 2002–2004. Canada noted that its albacore fishery is a limited entry fishery, and that its effort has been decreasing. In fact, Canada has not had a recent presence in this fishery in the Convention Area. The WCPFC Secretariat reminded NC5 of the six-monthly and annual reporting obligations with regard to CMM 2005-03, and noted that there was significant room for improvement in reporting as required by this CMM. CCMs made a commitment to comply with the required data submission schedule.
- 45. NC5 discussed the establishment of a regular assessment schedule for stocks under the mandate of the NC. The USA and Canada proposed that regular assessments occur on no more than a three-year cycle, noting that the lack of timely stock status advice to the NC could lead to unnecessarily harsh

measures imposed on the fishery. Japan, recalling the schedule in place in ICCAT, noted that there is currently no budget to support ISC stock assessment work, and that ISC working groups already have a demanding work load. While agreeing that the ISC needs to be adequately resourced, the USA considered that it is the ISC's role to provide scientific information to support NC's work, and that the ISC needs to tailor its schedule to meet the requirements of the NC, and not vice versa. It was also noted that resourcing ISC needed to be addressed at two levels: i) the national level, to support the contribution of scientists to the work of ISC, and ii) the ISC level, to support its coordination and advisory function.

- 46. NC5 recalled that NC4 had discussed possible revisions to CMM 2005-03, and received a proposal for additional amendments from the USA for consideration at NC5.
- 47. Tom Graham (USA) introduced a proposal for further revising CMM 2005-03, including amendments to the proposal that was tabled at NC4. The revisions include a stipulation that the reporting would be for the Convention Area, and that a reporting schedule would be established. The proposal calls for collaboration with the Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission (IATTC), possibly through participation in the proposed IATTC working group tasked with developing an operational definition of "current levels". The proposal also provides for measures of either organization to be implemented uniformly across the North Pacific, assuming the CMM of each organization is the same. The proposal further calls for identifying explicit reference benchmark levels of effort, reporting for each fleet or fisheries, and implementing control and monitoring mechanisms.
- 48. While acknowledging that there are differences between fisheries, the USA stressed the need for a standardized definition of current fishing effort, noting that the ISC assessments are based on F_{current} and refer to the 2002–2004 period. The USA reported that the IATTC has established a working group to define F_{current} , and recommended that ISC and NC representatives participate in the working group. Because albacore is a pan-Pacific stock, there is a real need for collaboration between the IATTC and WCPFC on management and conservation efforts. The USA also reminded NC5 of the appeal from the ISC to determine if the interim management objective proposed at NC4 is a limit or target reference point. Both the USA and Canada feel it is a limit reference point.
- 49. Japan considered that, apart from poor reporting, CMM 2005-03 worked well. Japan advised that it supported a large part of some aspects of the proposal, but was cautious about too many changes to existing CMMs. Japan considered the baseline for CMM 2005-03 to be 2002–2004, and stated that if those dates are accepted, no change to the baseline would be required. Japan also noted that the next assessment is due in 2011, and suggested that the NC should wait for that assessment before reviewing CMM 2005-03. In addition, establishing the same measures between IATTC and WCPFC may be difficult because of different characteristics of each organization and the region under their management.
- 50. The ISC Chair requested clarification on the probability of the reference point being exceeded. Canada referred to WCPFC-NC5-2009/IP09, which relates to the precautionary approach, and reiterated that a 50% probability of the reference point being exceeded is not consistent with the precautionary approach. A more appropriate level is 95%, which would avoid the possibility of the reference point being exceeded. Japan was of the view that NC4 had agreed to an interim reference point with an associated probability of 50%, and that should be maintained, because using a target reference point as a limit reference point based on $F_{2002-2004}$ may be too cautious.

- 51. The USA disagreed, stating that 50% would not be sufficiently precautionary. The USA reiterated that the proposed reference point was a limit reference point. The USA noted that the current stock assessment is several years old and that there were indications that the current F is below the reference point. The USA appealed to NC5 to consider the image of the NC, both within the WCPFC and the international community, where it needs to demonstrate responsible management.
- 52. Cook Islands noted that the revised proposal put forward by the USA attempts to develop standardized measurements of effort that it (Cook Islands) would support, primarily because the standardization of effort enables more direct relationships to be drawn between effort and fishing mortality. In developing these relationships, management arrangements can potentially be modified to meet reference points or change recruitment into the fishery based on the most recent scientific advice.
- 53. Vanuatu noted that all members need to accurately advise the WCPFC on effort levels, which can then be monitored and potential analytical work be undertaken to assess the measure's effectiveness.
- 54. NC5 discussed the shortcomings of using ambiguous terms such as "current levels" (of fishing effort) in CMMs, such as the North Pacific albacore CMM. Participants agreed that in any future CMM that the NC recommends to WCPFC should avoid using such ambiguous terms and instead use clear and explicit baselines or benchmarks.
- 55. NC members concurred in their understanding that as long as the substantive requirements of IATTC's resolution on North Pacific albacore and the WCPFC's CMM on North Pacific albacore are the same, CCMs may chose to implement the requirements of paragraph 2, and their obligations under the IATTC resolution on North Pacific albacore without regard to the boundary between the respective areas of competence of the WCPFC and the IATTC.
- 56. NC5 adopted a draft CMM to replace CMM 2005-03 for North Pacific albacore, and will submit this to the WCPFC for adoption (Attachment D).

2.3.3 North Pacific swordfish

57. NC5 considered no action for North Pacific swordfish at this session, although some CCMs suggested that the current stock status presents the NC with an opportunity to establish reference points in a situation where there is apparently no need to reduce fishing mortality.

2.4 Conservation and management measures for other species

2.4.1 Bigeye and yellowfin tuna

- 58. In introducing this item, Japan referred to paragraphs 9 and 39 of CMM 2008-01, which relate to NC areas of interest. In particular, Japan sought the support of NC members to encourage the WCPFC to ensure that bigeye and yellowfin tuna effort is not transferred from other regions of the Convention Area to the North Pacific, and asked NC members not to increase the capacity of "other commercial" fisheries for highly migratory species.
- 59. In relation to paragraph 39, it was noted that SC5 had not received any proposals from CCMs for reporting effort levels for other commercial fisheries to the WCPFC. The NC encouraged CCMs to

address this shortfall when reporting to the WCPFC on these fisheries.

2.4.2 Sharks

- 60. Japan noted that the NC currently has no competence to formulate recommendations for sharks even though there are fisheries for shark in the North Pacific. Despite this, if there are concerns about the status of shark stocks there is no reason why the NC cannot bring this to the attention of the WCPFC.
- 61. The views of CCMs differed with regard to tasking ISC with additional assessments. The USA noted that the recent session of the SC had received an assessment for blue shark but that this assessment was four years old. The USA considered that the ISC was already under-resourced and that its focus should be on albacore and Pacific bluefin. Japan, on the other hand, supported a request that ISC undertake shark assessment work.
- 62. NC5 agreed that, on condition that the schedule for assessments of albacore and Pacific bluefin would not be delayed, the ISC be tasked with considering assessments for make and blue shark but with no timetable associated with these assessments. Any such work would be undertaken in collaboration with the SC to avoid duplication.
- 63. NC5 also noted the recommendation from SC5, which was that silky shark be re-instated as a key shark species for inclusion in CMM 2008-06.

2.4.3 Seabirds

64. NC5 noted that a discussion on seabirds would be taken up elsewhere in the Commission.

2.5 Working group on striped marlin

65. The USA (Tom Graham on behalf of Gerard DiNardo) briefed NC5 on the NC's informal working group on striped marlin. He noted that the working group had met twice in 2009, which resulted in a draft work plan to be implemented over a two- to three-year period. The working group sought clarification on: i) membership, ii) who it reports to, iii) who is responsible for reviewing the working group's work, and iv) who will provide funding to support the working group. NC5 noted that: i) a portion of SC's work programme covered striped marlin, ii) there is need to coordinate the efforts of the NC and SC with regard to striped marlin, and iii) the names of working group members would be submitted to the group's Chair.

2.6 Skipjack in the North Pacific

66. Japan introduced the discussion on the apparent changes in skipjack distribution in Japan's coastal waters in recent years. Japan noted that there are four skipjack migration routes along Japan's east coast, and that these are areas where trolling and pole-and-line fishing activities take place. Since 2000, skipjack catches by troll vessels have declined significantly from approximately 4,500 mt/year to 1,000 mt/year. Japan noted several possible reasons for this, including oceanographic changes or impacts from more tropical fisheries. Japan proposed that the SC undertake research into this, and that the results of that research be included in future skipjack assessments.

AGENDA ITEM 3 — REGIONAL OBSERVER PROGRAMME

- 67. Japan introduced the discussion on the Regional Observer Programme (ROP), recalling a requirement for the 2010 annual session of the NC to make a recommendation to WCPFC on implementing the ROP by vessels fishing for fresh tuna in the area north of 20⁰N (WCPFC-NC5-2009/WP01). Japan noted that there was little intersessional activity by the working group established at NC4, but that it would like to see some sustained effort in 2010 to help support the preparation of a proposal for submission to the 2010 session of WCPFC. Japan noted that i) small vessels with less than six crew members account for 30% of the fishing effort by Japanese vessels in the region under consideration, ii) high seas operations of these vessels cannot be forecast in advance, and iii) most of these vessels are controlled by a family, and not a company. It is Japan's view that these small-scale operations could not sustain the cost of ROP deployments. In addition, Japan noted that the catch of these fleets is unloaded at local ports and so can be monitored at ports of unloading. Japan reiterated that it is not proposing to substitute a 5% observer coverage rate with a 5% port sampling rate, and that it intends to make a serious effort to achieve a 5% observer coverage rate.
- 68. Chinese Taipei advised that it still has concerns on the elements and implementation of the ROP, but that it agreed to work with the working group.
- 69. NC5 agreed to reinvigorate the work of the intersessional group in the remainder of 2009 and 2010, noting that while the majority of the work would be undertaken by email, opportunities to meet in the margins of meetings should also be taken advantage of.

AGENDA ITEM 4 — DATA

4.1 Review of the status of data and data gaps for northern stocks

- 70. The Chair of ISC's Statistics Working Group, Eric Chang, provided a review of ISC discussions on data gaps and a multilateral research proposal to address data gaps, which would reduce uncertainties in stock assessments (WCPFC-NC5-2009/IP03). Data gaps identified by ISC9 included: i) biological data for key species, ii) fisheries data from non-ISC members, and iii) fisheries data from ISC members. The ISC adopted a 2010 work plan, which includes a reporting procedure that provides an indication of the status of data submission by members to ISC. In relation to fisheries data from non-ISC members, it as noted that data for North Pacific albacore, Pacific bluefin, swordfish and marlin in the South Pacific and eastern Pacific are not currently available for ISC assessments. The ISC Chair has been charged with securing cooperation of the relevant regional fisheries management organizations in accessing these data. With regard to biological data (age, growth and maturity data), it was noted that current biological parameters are based on research from up to 40 years ago. As a result, ISC proposes to establish a multilateral research effort to address issues associated with the lack of current biological data in an effort to reduce uncertainties in current stock assessments. The plan was estimated to cost US\$434,000 for an integrated three-year programme.
- 71. NC's Chair re-stated the need to establish some financial support to ISC. He also considered the proposal to audit compliance with annual data submission obligations to be a useful development that should be supported.

12

AGENDA ITEM 5 — FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME

5.1 Northern Committee work programme for 2010–2013

- 72. The NC revised its work programme for 2010–2013 (Attachment E). Additions and changes included:
 - Request a report from the WCPFC Secretariat for NC6 on compliance with data submission obligations for each CCM;
 - Request the USA, on behalf of the Chair of the striped marlin working group, to convene a discussion in the margins of the Fifth Regular Session of the Technical and Compliance Committee and the Sixth regular Session of the WCPFC (WCPFC6) with the view of preparing a draft interim CMM for striped marlin for WCPFC6's consideration;
 - Request WCPFC's Executive Director to write to IATTC about efforts to develop a CMM for Pacific bluefin and North Pacific albacore, promoting harmonization of measures to the extent possible; and
 - Convene a two-day workshop prior to NC6 on reference points for NC stocks. This would be followed by a four-day meeting of the NC.
- 73. In addition the NC noted:
 - ISC's intention to schedule an assessment for striped marlin in 2011;
 - the comprehensive biological research proposal prepared by the ISC, which was estimate to cost US\$434,000; and
 - the request from the striped marlin working group for US\$150,000 to support its two- to three-year work programme.

AGENDA ITEM 6 — COOPERATION WITH OTHER ORGANIZATIONS

6.1 International Scientific Committee for Tuna and Tuna-like Species in the North Pacific Ocean

Proposed revision to ISC/WCPFC MoU

- 74. The WCPFC Secretariat advised the NC that the revised MoU had been prepared at the request of WCPFC5.
- 75. NC5 agreed that the scientific structure involving ISC should be unchanged, although transparency of ISC work should be enhanced through i) data exchange, ii) inviting SC representatives to its meetings, iii) strengthening the website, and iv) data administration. NC5 decided to recommend to WCPFC that the existing MoU between it and ISC remain unchanged at this stage.

Assistance to ISC

76. NC5 agreed that CCMs could elect to provide voluntary support to the ISC in 2009–2010. Well in advance of ISC10 the WCPFC Secretariat will prepare and circulate a draft administrative arrangement to support financial contributions from NC CCMs, based on the WCPFC's existing contributions formula that could be applied to the scientific work that ISC undertakes on behalf of the NC. Priority activities identified by the ISC include: i) data administration, ii) website administration, iii) albacore sampling, and iv) a comprehensive multilateral biological research proposal.

Data harmonization

- 77. The WCPFC Secretariat reported that SC5 had adopted a work programme that involved preparing existing data inventories, identifying data gaps, and considering procedures to harmonize data inventories in the broader WCPFC and ISC to be undertaken in advance of ISC10. The results of these efforts will be reported to NC6.
- 78. Japan, Chinese Taipei, Korea and the USA considered it time to examine the feasibility of establishing all of the WCPFC's data management functions in the Commission Secretariat in Pohnpei. The USA added that if this was to be considered, it could only occur if the Secretariat received adequate resources from CCMs to effectively support that function. WCPFC's Executive Director responded that this was considered during PrepCon when the principles of avoiding duplication by using the services provided by existing institutional arrangements were agreed to. In addition, an assessment of the effectiveness and efficiency of existing arrangements for data administration were included in the terms of reference of the Independent Review of Interim Arrangements for Science Structure and Function. The conclusion of the review was that existing arrangements were efficient and cost effective. NC5 decided that further consideration of this issue should occur at the Commission level.

Peer review

79. SC5's Chair, Naozumi Miyabe, noted the recommendations of the Independent Review of Transitional Arrangements for Science Structure and Function relating to the peer review of ISC and SC stock assessments. It was noted that several options had been proposed by SC5 for both ISC and SC assessments. Japan considered the ISC process to be quite different from the SC assessment process, and that a form of peer review was already accommodated for within the ISC process. The WCPFC Secretariat noted that the concept presented in the Independent Review was for an independent review, and not one to be undertaken by those directly involved in the assessments. NC5 requested ISC10 to further consider this matter.

Proposed revision of the MoU with the Secretariat of the Pacific Community

80. NC5 noted that the proposed changes to the MoU with the Secretariat of the Pacific Community (i.e. to provide for a three-year arrangement) had been adopted by SC5. Japan suggested an amendment to the proposed MoU (Attachment F) in order to avoid duplication of work between ISC and the Secretariat of the Pacific Community. Korea and Chinese Taipei supported the proposal. The USA does not agree with this proposal. However NC5 agreed to send the proposal to the WCPFC for its consideration in December 2009.

81. Proposed MoU with the North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission

- 82. The NC endorsed the proposed MoU with the North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission.
- 6.2 Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission
- 83. NC5 approved the proposed data exchange protocol with IATTC for consideration by WCPFC.

AGENDA ITEM 7 — OTHER MATTERS

7.1 Administrative arrangements for the NC

7.1.1 Secretariat functions and costs

84. NC5 deferred further consideration of this agenda item to a future session of the NC.

7.1.2 Rules of procedure

85. NC5 deferred further consideration of this agenda item to a future session of the NC.

7.2 Next meeting

86. The provisional dates for NC6 will be 8–11 September 2010 in Japan, at a venue to be determined. The meeting will be preceded by a two-day workshop on reference points for northern stocks.

7.3 Other business

87. NC5's Chair noted that two key NC members were not in attendance. A request will be sent to all NC CCMs to encourage their active participation in NC work.

AGENDA ITEM 8 — REPORT TO THE COMMISSION

8.1 Adoption of the report of the Fifth Regular Session of the Northern Committee and recommendations to the Commission

88. NC5 adopted the Summary Report of its Fifth Regular Session.

AGENDA ITEM 9 — CLOSE OF MEETING

9.1 Close of meeting

89. The Chair of NC5 stated his appreciation to participants for the successful conclusion of the meeting. The meeting closed on Thursday, 10 September 2009.



Commission for the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean

NORTHERN COMMITTEE FIFTH REGULAR SESSION

Nagasaki, Japan 7–10 September 2009

ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A — **Participants list**

Attachment B — Meeting agenda

Attachment C — Conservation and management measure for Pacific bluefin tuna

Attachment D — Conservation and management measure for North Pacific albacore

Attachment E — Northern Committee work programme for 2009–2013

Attachment A



Northern Committee Fifth Regular Session

Nagasaki, Japan 7–10 September 2009

PARTICIPANTS LIST

CHAIRMAN

Masanori Miyahara

Chief Counselor Fisheries Agency of Japan 1-2-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8907 Ph: 81-3-3591-2045 masanor-miyhara@nm.maff.go.jp

CANADA

Lauren Donihee

Fisheries and Oceans Canada 200 Kent St, Station 8E229 Ottawa, Ontario, KIA 0E6 Ph: 613-993-1853 Lauren.Donihee@dfo-mpo.gc.ca

COOK ISLANDS

Ian Bertram

Secretary
Ministry of Marine Resources
P.O Box 85
Rarotonga
Ph: 682-28730
I.Bertram@mmr.gov.ck

Carl Hunter

Director of Pacific Division Ministry of Foreign Affairs & Immigration PO Box 105 Rarotonga Ph: 682-29347 region@mfai.gov.ck

JAPAN

Takashi Koya

Senior Fisheries Negotiator International Affairs Division 1-2- Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8907 Ph: 81-3-3502-8459 takashi_koya@nm.maff.go.jp

Takumi Fukuda

Assistant Director International Affairs Division, Fisheries Agency 1-2- Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8907 Ph: 81-3-3502-8459

takumi fukuda@nm.maff.go.jp

Toshihiko Kajiwaki

International Affairs Division, Fisheries Agency of Japan 1-2-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8908 Ph: 81-3-3502-8459

toshihiko kajiwaki@nm.maff.go.jp

Wataru Tanoue

International Affairs Division, Fisheries Agency of Japan 1-2-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8907 Ph: 81-3-3502-8459 wataru tanoue@nm.maff.go.jp

Takeshi Miwa

Far Seas Fish. Division, Fish. Agency of Japan 1-2-1 Kasumigaseki Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-8907 Ph: 81-3-6744-2364 takeshi miwa@nm.maff.go.jp

Hirohide Matsushima

Fisheries Coordination Division, Fisheries Agency of Japan 1-2-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-8907 81-3-5510-3307 hirohide_matsushima@nm.maff.go.jp

Makoto Miyake

FRA, National Research Institute of Far Seas **Fisheries** 5-7-1 Shimizu-Orido, Shizuoka 424-8633 Ph: 81-54-336-6000 p.m.miyake@gamma.ocn.ne.jp

Miki Ogura

FRA, National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries 5-7-1 Shimizu-Orido, Shizuoka 424-8633 Ph: 81-54-336-6042 ogura@fra.affrc.go.jp

Koji Uosaki

FRA. National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries 5-7-1 Shimizu-Orido, Shizuoka 424-8633 Ph: 81-54-336-6036 uosaki@affrc.go.jp

Yukio Takeuchi

FRA. National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries 5-7-1 Shimizu-Orido, Shizuoka 424-8633 Ph: 81-54-336-6039 yukiot@fra.affrc.go.jp

Daikichi Mizutani

Resource Manegement Division 2-13 Edo-machi, Nagasaki-shi, Nagasaki 850-8570 Ph: 81-95-895-2825

Kazumi Maruo

Fisheries Division, Nagasaki City 4F 9-3 Kanaya-cho, Nagasaki-shi, Nagasaki 850-0037

Ph: 81-95-820-6563

Motoyuki Nakamachi

Fisheries Division, Nagasaki City 4F 9-3 Kanaya-cho, Nagasaki-shi, Nagasaki 850-0037

Ph: 81-95-820-6563

Shigeru Kuramochi

Overseas Fishery Cooperation Foundation 6F, Sankaido BLDG., 1-9-13, Akasaka, Minato-ku, Tokyo, 107-0052 Ph: 81-3-3585-5087 kura@ofcf.or.jp

Yoshihiro Kitazato

Overseas Fishery Cooperation Foundation 6F, Sankaido BLDG., 1-9-13, Akasaka,

Minato-ku, Tokyo, 107-0052

Ph: 81-3-3585-5087 kita@ofcf.or.jp

Akira Hozumi

Kanai Fisheries Co., Ltd 3-25, Irifune 6-Chome, Kushiro-shi Hokkaido, 085-8550

mikehozumi@kaneijapan.co.jp

Ph: 81-154-41-9181

Yoshihiro Notomi

National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan Tohan No. 3 Bldg. 1-3-1Uchikanda,

Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0047

Ph: 81-3-3295-3721

zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Kazushige Hazama

National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan

Tohan No. 3 Bldg. 1-3-1Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0047

Ph: 81-3-3295-3721

zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Noriyuki Miki

National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan

Tohan No. 3 Bldg. 1-3-1Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0047

Ph: 81-3-3295-3721

zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Yoshiharu Mizoguchi

National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan

Tohan No. 3 Bldg. 1-3-1Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0047

Ph: 81-3-3295-3721

zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Tadashi Yamaguchi

National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan

Tohan No. 3 Bldg. 1-3-1Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0047

Ph: 81-3-3295-3721

zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Kazuhiko Tatsu

National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan

Tohan No. 3 Bldg. 1-3-1Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0047

Ph: 81-3-3295-3721

zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Tadayuki Nimura

National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan

Tohan No. 3 Bldg. 1-3-1Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0047

Ph: 81-3-3295-3721

zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Masahiro Kanzaki

National Offshore Tuna Fisheries Association of Japan

Tohan No. 3 Bldg. 1-3-1Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0047

Ph: 81-3-3295-3721

zenkinjp@kinkatsukyo.or.jp

Makoto Hotai

Japan Purse Seiner's Association 3-11-3-901 Nagahama, Chuo-ku, Fukuoka-shi, Fukuoka 810-0072 Ph: 81-92-711-6261 makoto-hotai@enmaki.jp

Takahiro Motogawa

Daiei Suisan Co.,Ltd 1-8-6 Yamatomachi, Shimonoseki-shi, Yamaguchi 750-0067

Ph: 81-92-711-6261

Masahiro Ishikawa

Japan Tuna Fisheries Co-operative Association 2-31-1 Eitai, Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-0034

Ph: 81-3-5646-2382

Kikuo Chiyo

Japan Tuna Fisheries Co-operative Association 2-31-1 Eitai, Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-0034 Ph: 81-3-5646-2382

gyogyo@japantuna.or.jp

Yuki Okuda

Japan Far Seas Purse Seine Fishing Association 1-14-10 Ginza, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104-0061

Ph: 3-3564-2315 japan@kaimaki.or.jp

Chihiro Kino

Japan Far Seas Purse Seine Fishing Association 1-14-10 Ginza, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104-0061 Ph: 3-3564-2315

japan@kaimaki.or.jp

Tatsuo Abe

Hakko Gyogyo CO., LTD 2-12-1 Sakanamachi, Ishinomaki-shi, Miyagi 986-0022

Ph: 81-225-96-6796

info-office@hakkomaru.com

Takashi Furukatsu

TAIYO A &F CO., LTD

4-5 Toyomi-cho, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104-0055

Ph: 81-3-6220-1263

fishery2@maruha-nichiro.co.jp

Yoshimi Tateno

TAIYO A &F CO., LTD

4-5 Toyomi-cho, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104-0055

Ph: 81-3-6220-1263

fishery2@maruha-nichiro.co.jp

Iwahisa Kaneko

Kanei & CO., LTD

9-22 Daikoku-machi, Nagasaki 850-0057

Ph: 81-95-828-8533

makiami@kaneko.gr.jp

Junichi Mizugashira

Kanei & CO., LTD

9-22 Daikoku-machi, Nagasaki 850-0057

Ph: 81-95-828-8533 makiami@kaneko.gr.jp

Yasuhiro Koga

Kanei & CO., LTD

9-22 Daikoku-machi, Nagasaki 850-0057

Ph: 81-95-828-8533 makiami@kaneko.gr.jp

Homare Matsuzaki

Kanei & CO., LTD

9-22 Daikoku-machi, Nagasaki 850-0057

Ph: 81-95-828-8533 makiami@kaneko.gr.jp

Jun Machiba

National Federation of Fisheries Cooperative

Associations

1-1-12 Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo

101-8503

Ph: 81-3-3294-9617

j-machiba@zengyoren.jf-net.ne,jp

Hiromi Kojima

Mitsushima Fisheries Association

711-10 Kusubo Mitsushima-cho, Tsushima-shi,

Nagasaki 817-0324

Ph: 81-920-54-5020

Masaru Asakawa

Nomosaki Miwa Fisheries Association

3628-81 Wakimisaki-cho, Nagasaki-shi,

Nagasaki 851-0506

Ph: 81-95-893-1141

Hiroshige Matsuyama

Shishiki Fisheries Association 1857-4 Shishiki-cho, Hirado-shi, Nagasaki

859-5533

Ph: 81-950-27-1144

Toji Konishi

Uku Ojika Fisheries Association 2789-4 Usuigo Ojika-cho, Kitamatsuura-gun, Nagasaki 857-4701

Ph: 81-959-56-3131

Kazuichi Syukuwa

Naru Fisheries Association 1839-7 Ura Naru-cho, Goto-shi, Nagasaki 853-2201

Ph: 81-959-64-3115

Tadami Omura

Wakamatsu Fisheries Association 266-3 Arifukugo Kamigoto-cho, Minamimatsuuragun, Nagasaki 853-2313

Ph: 81-959-46-3125

Tomio Tsukamoto

Gonoura Fisheries Association 122 Gonoura Gonoura-cho, Iki-shi, Nagasaki 811-5135

Ph: 81-920-47-1960

Terutaka Okubo

Katsumoto Fisheries Association 575-61 Katsumotoura Katsumoto-cho, Iki-shi, Nagasaki 811-5501

Ph: 81-920-42-1180

Hiroshi Nishi

Hakozaki Fisheries Association 171Setoura Ashibe-cho, Iki-shi, Nagasaki 811-5461

Ph: 81-920-45-2350

Toshinobu Urata

Iki Tobu Fisheries Association 1342-14 Moroyoshimotomurafune Ashibe-cho, Iki-shi, Nagasaki 811-5311

Ph: 81-920-45-0385

Hajime Eguchi

Ishida Fisheries Association 176 Indojiura Ishida-cho, Nagasaki 811-5214

Ph: 81-920-44-5020

Yasuhiro Kosaka

Nagasaki Purse Seiner's Association 3-3-1 Kyodomari, Nagasaki-shi, Nagasaki 851-2211

Ph: 81-95-850-4196

Sunao Shimamoto

Nagasaki Fisheries Cooperative Association 2-27 Goto-cho, Nagasaki-shi, Nagasaki 850-8686

Ph: 81-95-829-2400

Seiji Kameyama

Nagasaki Fisheries Cooperative Association 2-27 Goto-cho, Nagasaki-shi, Nagasaki 850-8686

Ph: 81-95-829-2400

Ichiro Wakatsuki

Nagasaki Fish Market 3-3-1 Kyodomari, Nagasaki-shi, Nagasaki 851-2211

Ph: 81-95-850-3600

Mitsuya Yoshida

West Japan Fish Market 695 Shimomen Tsukinokawa-cho, Matsuura-shi, Nagasaki 859-4536 Ph: 81-956-72-0147

Nobuvuki Yagi

The University of Tokyo 1-1-1 Yayoi, Bunkyo-ku Ph: 03-5841-5599 yagi@fa.au.u-tokyo.ac.jp

KOREA

Chiguk Ahn

Ministry of Food Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Ph: 82-2-500-2414 chiguka62@yahoo.com

Doo Hae AN

National Fisheries Research and Development Institute

Ph: 82-51-720-2320 dhan@nfrdi.go.kr

Ilkang NA

Korea Overseas Fisheries Association Ph: 82-2-589-1614

ikna@kosfa.org

Kwak Kun Jae

Dongwon Industries Ph: 82-2-589-3306

kwak1225@dongwon.com

Min-Young Yang

Sajo Industries. Ltd Ph: 82-2-3277-1653 bluefin@sajo.co.kr

GyeongSam Choi

Korean Consulate General Fukuoka, Japan

Ph: 092-771-0463 gschoi@hanmail.net

Yongil Jeon

SKKU

Ph: 82-10-4519-2912 yjeon@skku.edu

CHINESE TAIPEI

Chi-Chao Liu

Fisheries Agency of Taiwan

Ph: 886-7-8239843 chichao@ms1.fa.gov.tw

Shui-Kai (Eric) Chang

Institute of Marine Affairs National Sun Yat-sen University

Ph: 886-7-5250050

skchang@faculty.nsysu.edu.tw

Chia-Chi Fu

Overseas Fisheries Development Council

Ph: 886-2-27381522 Joseph@ofdc.org.tw

Chien-Nan Lin

Fisheries Agency of Taiwan Ph: 886-2-33436090 chiennan@ms1.fa.gov.tw

Ho, Shih-Chieh

Chinese Taipei Ph: 886-7-8419606 martin@tuna.org.tw

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

William L. Robinson

Regional Administrator, PIRO NOAA Fisheries Service 601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110 Honolulu, HI 96814

Phone: 1-808-944-2280 bill.robinson@noaa.gov

Charles Karnella

International Fisheries Administrator, PIRO NOAA Fisheries Service 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110 Honolulu, HI 96814

Phone: 1-808-944-2206 Charles.Karnella@noaa.gov

Tom Graham

Fishery Policy Analyst, PIRO NOAA Fisheries Service 1601 Kapiolani Blvd., Suite 1110

Honolulu, HI 96814 Phone: 1-808-944-2219 tom.graham@noaa.gov

Samuel G. Pooley

Research & Science Director, PIFSC

2570 Dole Street Honolulu HI 96822 Phone: 1-808-983-5301

samuel.pooley@noaa.gov

Mark Helvey

Assistant Regional Administrator for Sustainable Fisheries, SWRO 501 West Ocean Blvd., Rm. 4200, Long Beach, CA 90802

Phone: 1-562-980-4040 mark.helvey@noaa.gov

Sarah McTee

Foreign Affairs Officer US. Dept of State Office of Marine Conservation - DOS Washington, DC Phone: 1-202-647-3941

McTeeSA@state.gov

Christopher "Kit" Dahl

Pacific Fishery Management Council 7700 NE Ambassador Place, Suite 101 Portland, OR 97220 Phone: 1-503-820-2422 kit.dahl@noaa.gov

Peter Flournoy

American Fishermen's Research Foundation 740 North Harbor Drive San Diego, CA 92101 Phone: 1-619-232-0954 phf@international-law-offices.com

Kevin Piner

Research Biologist, SWFSC 8604 La Jolla Shores Drive La Jolla, CA 90237 Phone: 1-858-546-5613 kevin.piner@noaa.gov

Manny Duenas

Guam Fishermen's Cooperative Association P.O. Box 24023 GMF, Guam 96921 Phone: 1-671-472-6323

gfca@ite.net

Svein Fougner

Consultant
Hawaii Longline Association
32506 Seahill Drive
Rancho Palos Verdes, CA 90275
Phone: 1-310-377-2661
sveinfougner@cox.net

Randi Parks Thomas

Vice President National Fisheries Institute 7918 Jones Branch Drive, Suite 700 McLean, VA 22102 Phone: 1-703-752-8895 rthomas@nfi.org

VANUATU

Yvon Basil

Department of Foreign Affairs Private Mail Bag 051 Port Vila (678) 22347 ybasil@vanuatu.gov.vu

Christophe Emelee

Fleet Administrator PO Box 1640 Port Vila tunafishing@vanuatu.com.vu

OBSERVERS

FIJI

Jaljeet Jeetendra Kumar

Treaties Officer Ministry of Foreign Affairs PO Box 2220 Gov't Buildings, Suva, Fiji Ph: 679-330-9645 jaljeet.kumar@govnet.gov.fj

KIRIBATI

Bootii Nauan

Deputy Secretary

Ministry of Fisheries and Marine Resources

Development PO Box 276

Bikenibeu, Tarawa Ph: 686-21296

botiin@mfmrd.gov.ki

NIUE

Brendon Pasisi

Director

Department of Agriculture, Forestry &

Fisheries PO Box 74 Alofi

Ph: 683-4032

fisheries@mail.gov.nu

SAMOA

Sharon G. Potoi Aiafi

Misty of Foreign Affairs & Trade

PO Box L1859

Apia

Tel: 685-21171 sharon@mfat.gov.ws

TOKELAU

Pouvave Fainuulelei

Director of Fisheries

P.O Box 3298

Tokelau

Ph: 685-770-3375

fainuulelei@lesamoa.net

TONGA

Sione V. Matoto

Head of Fisheries

Department of Fisheries

Sopu, Nuku'Alofa

Ph: 676-21399 vailala@kalianet.to

TUVALU

Teniku Talesi

Ministry of Natural Resources and

Environment Vaiaku, Funafuti Ph: (688) 20160 ttalesi@gov.tv

AMERICAN FISHERMEN'S RESEARCH FOUNDATION

Peter H. Flournoy

AFRF

740 North Harbor Drive San Diego, CA 92101 Ph: 1-619-203-5349

phf@international-law-offices.com

ORGANIZATION FOR THE PROMOTION OF RESPONSIBLE TUNA FISHERIES (OPRT)

Shuji Ishida

OPRT

9F Sankaido Bldg. 9-13, Akasaka 1-chome Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan Ph: 813-35686388

PACIFIC ISLANDS FORUM FISHERIES AGENCY (FFA)

Steve Shanks

ishida@optr.or.jp

Fisheries Management Adviser, Pacific Islands Forum Fisheries Agency PO Box 629 Honiara, Solomon Islands Ph 677-21124;Fax 677-23995 steve.shanks@ffa.int

WWF JAPAN

Aiko Yamauchi

WWF Japan

Ph: 81-3-3769-1713 ayamauchi@wwf.or.jp

ISC CHAIRMAN

Gary Sakagawa

Research Biologist SWFSC 8604 La Jolla Shores Drive La Jolla, CA 90237 Phone: 1-858-546-7177 gary.sakagawa@noaa.gov

WCPFC SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN

Naozumi Miyabe

FRA, National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries 5-7-1 Shimizu-Orido, Shizuoka 424-8633 Ph: 81-54-336-6000 miyabe@fra.affrc.go.jp

SECRETARIAT

Andrew Wright

Executive Director P.O Box 2356 Kolonia, Pohnpei 96941 Federated States of Micronesia Ph: 691-320-1992/1993 Fax: 691-320-1108 wcpfc@mail.fm

Ziro Suzuki

dreww@mail.fm

JTF Coordinator PO Box 2356 Kolonia, Pohnpei 96941 Federated States of Micronesia Ph: 691-320-1992/1993

Fax: 691-320-1108 wcpfc@mail.fm



Northern Committee Fifth Regular Session

Nagasaki, Japan 7–10 September 2009

AGENDA

ACENDA	ITEM 1	OPENING	OF MEETIN	JC

- 1.1 Welcome
- 1.2 Adoption of agenda
- 1.3 Meeting arrangements

AGENDA ITEM 2. CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT MEASURES

- 2.1 Report from the 9th ISC
- 2.2 Report of the Fifth Regular Session of the Scientific Committee (SC5)
- 2.3 Conservation and management measures for the northern stocks
 - 2.3.1 Northern Pacific Bluefin
 - 2.3.2 North Pacific Albacore
 - 2.3.3 North Pacific Swordfish
- 2.4 Conservation and management measures for other species
 - 2.4.1 Bigeye and yellowfin tuna
 - **2.4.2** Sharks
 - 2.4.3 Seabirds
- 2.5 WG on striped marlin
- 2.6 Skipjack tuna

AGENDA ITEM 3. REGIONAL OBSERVER PROGRAMME

AGENDA ITEM 4. DATA

4.1 Review of the status of data and data gaps for northern stocks

AGENDA ITEM 5. FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME

5.1 Work Programme for 2010-2013

AGENDA ITEM 6. COOPERATION WITH OTHER ORGANIZATIONS

- **6.1** ISC
- 6.2 IATTC
- 6.3 Review of interim arrangements for scientific structure and function

AGENDA ITEM 7. OTHER MATTERS

- 7.1 Administrative arrangements for the Committee
 - 71.1 Secretariat functions and costs
 - 7.1.2 Rules of Procedure
- 7.2 Next meeting
- 7.3 Other business

AGENDA ITEM 8. REPORT TO THE COMMISSION

8.1 Adoption of the Summary Report of the Fifth Regular Session of the Northern Committee and recommendations to the Commission

AGENDA ITEM 9. CLOSE OF MEETING

9.1 Closing of the meeting



Northern Committee Fifth Regular Session

Nagasaki, Japan 7–10 September 2009

DRAFT CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT MEASURE FOR PACIFIC BLUEFIN TUNA

Draft CMM 2009-xx

The Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission (WCPFC),

Recognizing that members of the Northern Committee have made an effort, on a voluntary basis, not to increase the fishing mortality rate of northern Pacific bluefin tuna,

Recalling that the WCPFC5 tasked the Northern Committee to work toward developing a draft CMM for the stock for consideration at the WCPFC6;

Taking account of the conservation advice from the International Scientific Committee for Tuna and Tuna-like Species in the North Pacific Ocean (ISC) on this stock which highlighted that the favorable environment conditions and relatively high recruitment in the recent years sustained the current productivity of the stock and that it is important not to increase the current level of F, while reducing juvenile F,

Also recognizing that the trend of spawning stock biomass has been influenced substantially by the annual level of recruitment and that collecting of fisheries data in an accurate and timely manner is critically important for the proper management of this stock, and

Further recalling that paragraph (4), Article 22 of the WCPFC Convention which requires cooperation between the Commission and the IATTC to reach agreement on an adjustment of CMMs for fish stocks such as northern Pacific bluefin tuna that occur in the Convention Areas of both organizations,

Adopts, in accordance with Article 10 of the WCPFC Convention that:

- 1. The interim management objective for Pacific bluefin tuna is to ensure that the current level of fishing mortality rate is not increased in the Convention Area. Initially, control over fishing effort will be used to achieve this objective as follows:
- 2. The Commission Members, Cooperating Non-Members and participating Territories (hereinafter referred to as CCMs) shall take measures necessary to ensure that total fishing effort by their vessels fishing for northern Pacific bluefin tuna in the area north of the 20 degrees north shall not be increased from the 2002-2004 level for 2010, except for artisanal fisheries. In taking such measures, CCMs shall take account of the need to reduce the effort on juvenile (age 0-3) to the 2000-2004 level. The measures in this paragraph shall not be applied to the Korean EEZ.
- 3. CCMs shall also take measures necessary to strengthen data collecting system for the northern Pacific bluefin tuna fisheries in order to improve the data quality and timeliness of data reporting;
- 4. CCMs shall report to Executive Director by 31 July 2010 measures they implement paragraphs 2 and 3 above. Korea shall provide ISC 10 and NC 6 with a report on its fisheries involving bluefin tuna catches;
- 5. The Northern Committee shall annually review reports CCMs submit pursuant to paragraph 4 above as well as the ISC advice on fishing mortality and status of the stock and consider, if necessary, further measures with particular attention to the recent trend of increasing fishing mortality rate on ages 0–3 fish;
- 6. The WCPFC Executive Director shall communicate this Conservation Management Measure to the IATTC Secretariat and its contracting parties whose fishing vessels engage in fishing for northern Pacific bluefin tuna and request them to take similar measures in conformity with paragraphs 2 and 3 above; and
- 7. To enhance effectiveness of this measure, CCMs are encouraged to communicate with and, if appropriate, work with the concerned IATTC contracting parties bilaterally.
- 8. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not prejudice the legitimate rights and obligations under international law of those small island developing State Members and participating territories in the Convention Area whose current fishing activity for northern Pacific bluefin tuna is limited, but that have a real interest in fishing for the species, that may wish to develop their own fisheries for northern Pacific bluefin tuna in the future.
- 9. The provisions of paragraph 8 shall not provide a basis for an increase in fishing effort by fishing vessels owned or operated by interests outside such developing coastal State, particularly Small Island developing State Members or participating territories, unless such fishing is conducted in support of efforts by such Members and territories to develop their own domestic fisheries.



Northern Committee Fifth Regular Session

Nagasaki, Japan 7–10 September 2009

DRAFT CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT MEASURE FOR NORTH PACIFIC ALBACORE

Conservation and Management Measure-2005-03 (as revised at NC5, 7-10 September 2009)

The Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission (WCPFC),

Observing that the best scientific evidence on North Pacific albacore from the International Scientific Committee for Tuna and Tuna-like Species in the North Pacific Ocean indicates that the species is either fully exploited, or may be experiencing fishing mortality above levels that are sustainable in the long term, and

Recalling further Article 22(4) of the WCPFC Convention that provides for cooperation with the IATTC regarding fish stocks that occur in the Convention Areas of both organizations and

Recognizing that the Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission (IATTC) adopted, at its 73rd meeting, conservation and management measures on North Pacific albacore;

Adopts, in accordance with the Article 10 of the WCPFC Convention that:

- 1. The total level of fishing effort for North Pacific albacore in the Convention Area north of the equator shall not be increased beyond the 2002-2004 average level.
- 2. The Members, Cooperating Non-Members and participating Territories (hereinafter referred to as CCMs) shall take necessary measures to ensure that the level of fishing effort by their vessels fishing for North Pacific albacore in the WCPF Convention Area is not increased beyond 2002-2004 average levels.
- 3. All CCMs shall report all catches of albacore north of the equator to the WCPFC every six months, except for small coastal fisheries, which shall be reported on an annual basis. Such data shall be reported to the Commission as soon as possible and no later than one year after the end of the period covered.

- 4. All CCMs shall report annually to the WCPF Commission all catches of albacore north of the equator and all fishing effort north of the equator in fisheries directed at albacore. The reports for both catch and fishing effort shall be made by gear type. Catches shall be reported in terms of weight. Fishing effort shall be reported in terms of the most relevant measures for a given type, including at a minimum for all gear types, the number of vessel-days fished. The report for a given calendar year shall be due on April 30 of the subsequent year. Reports for each of the years 2004 through 2009 shall be due on 30 April 2010.
- 5. The Northern Committee shall, in coordination with International Scientific Committee for Tuna and Tuna-like Species in the North Pacific Ocean and other scientific bodies conducting scientific reviews of this stock, including the WCPFC Scientific Committee, monitor the status of North Pacific albacore and report to the Commission on the status of the stock at each annual meeting, and make such recommendations to the Commission as may be necessary for their effective conservation.
- 6. The Commission shall consider future actions with respect to North Pacific albacore based on recommendations of the Northern Committee.
- 7. The CCMs shall work to maintain, and as necessary reduce, the level of fishing effort on North Pacific albacore within the Convention Area commensurate with the long-term sustainability of the stock.
- 8. The WCPFC Executive Director shall communicate this CMM to the IATTC and request that the two Commissions engage in consultations with a view to reaching agreement on a consistent set of conservation and management measures for North Pacific albacore, and specifically, to propose that both Commissions adopt as soon as practicable uniform conservation and management measures and any reporting or other measures needed to ensure compliance with agreed measures.
- 9. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not prejudice the legitimate rights and obligations under international law of those small island developing State Members and participating territories in the Convention Area whose current fishing activity for North Pacific albacore is limited, but that have a real interest in, and history of, fishing for the species, that may wish to develop their own fisheries for North Pacific albacore in the future.
- 10. The provisions of paragraph 9 shall not provide a basis for an increase in fishing effort by fishing vessels owned or operated by interests outside such small island developing State Members or participating territories, unless such fishing is conducted in support of efforts by such Members and territories to develop their own domestic fisheries.
- 11. For the purpose of evaluating implementation of paragraph 2, CCMs shall report to the Executive Director no later than 30 April 2010 the following information:
 - a. a list of their specific fisheries or fleets they have determined to be "fishing for" North Pacific albacore in the Convention Area; and
 - b. a description of the particular measures, as well as monitoring mechanisms, they have established to ensure that fishing effort in each of the fisheries or fleets does not increase above 2002-2004 average levels.

- 12. For the purpose of evaluating implementation of paragraphs 2–4, the Secretariat shall compile all the reports submitted under paragraphs 3 and 4 and present the compilation to the sixth regular session of the Northern Committee.
- 13. This Measure replaces CMM 2005-03.

Attachment E



Northern Committee Fifth Regular Session

Nagasaki, Japan 7–10 September 2009

WORK PROGRAMME FOR THE NORTHERN COMMITTEE (as Revised by the Fifth Regular Session)

W	5-year objectives	1-year tasks						
Work areas	2009–2013	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013		
1. Northern stocks								
a. Monitor status; consider management action	Review status and take action as needed for: 1							
	North Pacific albacore	Obtain and review ISC advice in light of interim management objective and consider the need for management action.	Obtain scientific advice and make recommendations for both limit and target reference points.	Obtain and review a full assessment.				

¹ In the event that the Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission, in accordance with paragraph 5 of Annex I of the Commission Rules of Procedure, adds additional stocks, such as the northern stock of striped marlin, to the list of stocks understood to be "northern stocks", this work programme will be revised to include periodic status reviews and consideration of management action for such stocks.

XX 7 1	5-year objectives	1-year tasks							
Work areas	2009–2013	2009	2011	2012	2013				
	Pacific bluefin tuna	Review reports from CCMs on their domestic management measures, consider advice of ISC and consider management action.	Review reports from CCMs as well as report from Korea on their domestic management measures, consider advice of ISC on F and consider management action for 2011 and after.		Obtain and review a full assessment				
			Obtain scientific advice and make recommendations for both limit and target reference points.						
	Swordfish	Obtain and review complete assessment (ISC) and consider management action.	Obtain scientific advice and make recommendations for both limit and target reference points.						
	Striped marlin (if agreed by the SC and WCPFC).	Review outcomes of the working group to consider alternative management options.	Review outcomes of the working group to consider alternative management	Obtain and review a full assessment					
		CCMs report on voluntary constraints in relation to fishing mortality rate (i.e. catch or effort)	options. CCMs report on voluntary constraints in relation to fishing mortality rate (i.e. catch or effort)						
b. Data	Achieve timely submission of complete data needed for assessments, formulation of measures, and review of WCPFC decisions	CCMs participating in the NC submit complete data on fisheries for northern stocks to WCPFC	CCMs participating in the NC submit complete data on fisheries for northern stocks to WCPFC						
		Encourage submission to WCPFC of Pacific bluefin data from all CCMs and make	Encourage submission to WCPFC of Pacific bluefin and North Pacific albacore						

11 71	5-year objectives	1-year tasks						
Work areas	2009–2013	2009	2011	2012	2013			
	Consider systems to validate catch data	available to ISC	data from all CCMs and make available to ISC					
2. Non-target, associated, dependent species								
a. Seabirds	Consider appropriate implementation of methods to minimize catch and mortality.	Review implementation of CMM-2007-04 in the northern area	Review implementation of CMM-2007-04 in the northern area					
b. Sea turtles	Consider appropriate implementation of methods to minimize catch and mortality.	Review mitigation research results and consider management action	Review mitigation research results and consider management action					
c. Sharks	Consider appropriate implementation for CMM-2006-05 in the northern area.	Review implementation for CMM-2006-05 in the northern area.	Review implementation for CMM-2006-05 in the northern area.					
			Review scientific advice from ISC, if any, and consider management options on five shark species (blue, oceanic whitetip, mako, thresher and silky).	Review scientific advice from ISC, if any, and consider management options on five shark species (blue, oceanic whitetip, mako, thresher and silky).				

Worls areas	5-year objectives					
Work areas	2009–2013	2009	2011	2012	2013	
3. Review effectiveness of decisions	Annually review effectiveness of conservation and management measures and resolutions applicable to fisheries for northern stocks	Review effectiveness of North Pacific albacore measure (CMM 2005-03), including members' reports on their interpretation and implementation of fishing effort controls Review effectiveness of Pacific bluefin tuna measure.	Review effectiveness of North Pacific albacore measure (CMM 2005-03), including members' reports on their interpretation and implementation of fishing effort controls Review effectiveness of Pacific bluefin tuna measure.			
4. Cooperation with other organizations						
a. ISC			Consider and establish a mechanism to support ISC.			
b. IATTC	Following article 22.4, consult to facilitate consistent management measures throughout the respective ranges of the northern stocks	Have consultation to maintain consistent measures for North Pacific albacore and North Pacific bluefin tuna	Have consultation to maintain consistent measures for North Pacific albacore and North Pacific bluefin tuna			

(Draft)

Japan's Comments on the proposed MOU between WCPFC and SPC (Attachment C of WCPFC-NC5-2009/IP-04)

REVISED MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

THE COMMISSION FOR THE CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT OF HIGHLY MIGRATORY FISH STOCKS IN THE WESTERN AND CENTRAL PACIFIC OCEAN AND

THE SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC COMMUNITY

The Commission for the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean (hereinafter referred to as "the Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission" or "the Commission") and the Secretariat of the Pacific Community (hereinafter referred to as "the SPC"):

Recognising that the Commission is required to, *inter alia*:

- adopt measures to ensure long-term sustainability of highly migratory fish stocks in its Convention Area and promote the objective of their optimum utilisation;
- ensure that such measures are based on the best scientific evidence available and are designed to maintain or restore stocks at levels capable of producing maximum sustainable yield, as qualified by relevant environmental and economic factors, including the special requirements of developing States in the Convention Area, particularly small island developing States, and taking into account fishing patterns, the interdependence of stocks and any generally recommended international minimum standards, whether subregional, regional, or global;
- assess the impacts of fishing, other human activities and environmental factors on target stocks, non-target species, and species belonging to the same ecosystem or dependent upon or associated with the target stocks;
- adopt measures to minimise waste, discards, catch by lost or abandoned gear, pollution originating from fishing vessels, catch of non-target species, both fish and non-fish species (hereinafter referred to as non-target species) and impacts on associated or dependent species, in particular endangered species and promote the development and use of selective, environmentally safe and cost-effective fishing gear and techniques;

- protect biodiversity in the marine environment;
- take measures to prevent or eliminate over-fishing and excess fishing capacity and to ensure that levels of fishing effort do not exceed those commensurate with the sustainable use of fishery resources;
- collect and share, in a timely manner, complete and accurate data concerning fishing activities on, *inter alia*, vessel position, catch of target and non-target species and fishing effort, as well as information from national and international research programs;
- establish a committee (the Scientific Committee) to ensure that the Commission obtains for its consideration the best scientific information available through review of research results, encouraging and promoting cooperation in scientific research and assessing status of target or non-target stocks of interest;
- establish a committee (the Technical and Compliance Committee), that is required to collaborate with the Scientific Committee in providing advice and making recommendations to the Commission on conservation and management measures; and
- establish a committee (the Northern Committee) to make recommendations on the implementation of such conservation and management measures as may be adopted by the Commission for the area north of the 20° parallel of north latitude and on the formulation of such measures in respect of stocks which occur mostly in this area;

Noting also that the Commission:

- may engage the services of scientific experts to provide information and advice on the fishery resources covered by its Convention and related matters that may be relevant to the conservation and management of those resources;
- may enter into administrative and financial arrangements to utilise scientific services for this purpose; and
- in order to carry out its functions in a cost-effective manner, shall, to the greatest extent possible, utilise the services of existing regional organisations and shall consult, as appropriate, with any other fisheries management, technical or scientific organisation with expertise in matters related to the work of the Commission;

Recognising that the SPC, through the work of its Oceanic Fisheries Programme (hereinafter referred to as "the OFP"), seeks to:

- ensure that regional and national fisheries management authorities in its region of competence have access to high-quality scientific information and advice on the status of, and fishery impacts on, stocks targeted or otherwise impacted by regional oceanic fisheries;
- ensure that regional and national fisheries management authorities within its region of competence have access to accurate and comprehensive scientific data on fisheries targeting the region's resources of tuna, billfish and other oceanic species including non-target species; and
- improve the understanding of pelagic ecosystems in the western and central Pacific Ocean, with a focus on the western tropical Pacific;

Noting also that the OFP, in pursuing these objectives, has, over a long period of time:

- developed and maintained a comprehensive database of catch, effort, size composition and other biological data from the oceanic fisheries of the western and central Pacific Ocean;
- conducted biological and ecological research on the target and non-target species impacted by the fisheries and their ecosystem;
- conducted regular stock assessments and associated analyses for highly migratory stocks of interest;
- provided a forum for the exchange of knowledge of oceanic fisheries in the western and central Pacific Ocean through the precursor to the Scientific Committee, the Standing Committee on Tuna and Billfish, and thus has an established international and regional network of scientific collaborators; and
- assisted SPC member countries that are also Members of the Commission in the management of oceanic fisheries through the implementation of fishery monitoring and data management systems, the provision of scientific advice and the provision of national capacity building;

Have agreed as follows:

General Co-operation

The Commission and the SPC agree to establish and maintain co-operation in respect of matters of common interest to the two organisations. In particular, the Commission and the SPC will:

- i. encourage reciprocal participation in relevant meetings of each organisation;
- ii. encourage the collaboration of national scientists in the scientific work undertaken by, or on behalf of, the Commission;
- iii. actively and regularly exchange relevant meeting reports, information, project plans, documents, and publications regarding matters of mutual interest, up to the limits allowed by the information-sharing policies agreed by each organisation's members; and
- iv. consult on a regular basis to enhance co-operation and minimise duplication.

Provision of Scientific Services to the Commission by the SPC OFP

The SPC OFP will provide scientific services, in cooperation with other scientists, as appropriate, including those from Members of the Commission, as agreed in triennial Service Agreements, specific services of which shall be reviewed on an annual basis. Services may include, *inter alia*, the following, but shall exclude the services for northern stocks as well as by catch covered by ISC:

i. data management services, including, as appropriate, the collection, compilation and dissemination of fisheries data according to agreed principles and procedures established by the Commission, data processing, and database development and maintenance, taking full account of the procedures and policies of both organisations relating to the confidentiality, disclosure and publication of data;

- ii. data summaries and analyses that the Commission may routinely require to carry out its functions;
- iii. other data summaries and analyses that the Commission may require from time to time;
- iv. regional stock assessments of key target and non-target species;
- v. ecosystem analyses, including developing ecosystem modelling and application to management, ecological risk assessment and related work;
- vi. scientific evaluation of potential management options, agreed conservation and management measures and related work;
- vii. scientific advice in relation to the implementation of the Commission's vessel monitoring system, regional observer programme or other initiatives relating to fishing gear and technology, as appropriate; and
- viii. design and implementation of biological, ecological or stock assessment research programmes requested by the Commission, including collaborative research programmes with other regional fishery management organisations.

Provision of Assistance to Commission Members

In support of Article 30 of the Convention on the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean, the SPC will provide assistance to its Pacific Island Members to enhance their participation in the work of the Commission. Assistance may include, *inter alia*:

- i. assistance in monitoring the fishing activities of national fleets and foreign fleets fishing within Pacific Island exclusive economic zones;
- ii. assistance in data management, and in particular in satisfying the data reporting obligations to the Commission;
- iii. auditing of national fishery monitoring and data management systems;
- iv. assistance in the interpretation of scientific information being provided to the Commission;
- v. scientific advice for the management of national fisheries consistent with the objectives of the Commission; and
- vi. assistance in the implementation of management measures adopted by the Commission.

Financial Support

The Commission will provide financial support for the provision of scientific services and for the provision of assistance to Commission members as agreed in this Service Agreement.

In respect of assistance to Pacific Island Commission Members, such assistance will normally be provided by SPC funding sources, or from the Commission's Special Requirements Fund, subject to procedures agreed by the Commission governing the use of that Fund and to the Commission's strategy for capacity building and operationalizing Article 30 of the Convention. Where assistance is to be funded from the Commission's Special Requirements Fund, this shall be included in the Service Agreement. In special circumstances, assistance may also be requested for non-Pacific Island Commission

Members. Such assistance will be funded by the Commission (in which case it will be detailed in the Service Agreement) or directly by the countries concerned.

General Administrative Arrangements

- i. This MOU becomes effective upon the date of signature of the responsible representatives of both Parties.
- ii. This MOU may be modified by written consent of the responsible representatives of both Parties. The modified MOU becomes effective upon the date of signature of such consent.
- iii. If any dispute should arise between the Parties on the operation of this MOU, the Parties will make every effort to resolve the dispute themselves, or if necessary, by utilising a mutually-acceptable arbiter.
- iv. Either Party may terminate this MOU by providing written notice to the other of its intention to withdraw from the MOU. Termination shall be effective on 31 December of the year in which such notice is given, or 90 days following such notice, whichever is later. Upon termination of the MOU, any uncommitted funds provided for scientific services and assistance shall be refunded to the Commission.
- v. A full review of the terms and operation of this MOU and its Annexes will be conducted in concert with any review of the scientific structure and functions of the Commission.

Signature

Signed	on	behalf	of	the	Western	and	Central	Pacific	Fisheries	Commission	and	the
Secreta	riat	of the I	Pac	ific (Communit	y:						

Dr Jimmy Rogers
Director General, SPC
Date: